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Introduction


A large aircraft trundles along the perimeter track and turns to face the runway. It pauses briefly before, with engines screaming, it roars off down the tarmac, gathering speed until the wheels gently lift off the ground and it soars smoothly into the sky. On board a couple of hundred men and women, boys and girls, chatter excitedly on their way to a European holiday resort. They have just left an airfield once known as Middleton St George, commissioned in 1941 as a base for the Royal Air Force and later for the Royal Canadian Air Force. Back then, in the dark days of the Second World War, grimfaced young men hauled their Whitleys, Wellingtons, Halifaxes and Lancasters, heavily laden with bombs, into the deadly night skies over Occupied Europe and Nazi Germany.


Middleton St George was just one of dozens of Bomber Command bases but its contribution to the final victory and the efforts and sacrifices made by the men and women stationed there to achieve it deserve to be remembered. This book is intended to be a plain and straightforward operational history of Middleton St George’s role in the war, no more, no less. It draws upon the recollections, published and unpublished, of men and women who were stationed there, supplemented by official records held at the National Archives, Kew (formerly known as the Public Record Office), and the Public Archives of Canada. I only hope the words do the deeds justice.


A BRAVE NEW WORLD


Middleton St George was one cog in the vast machine that was Bomber Command in the Second World War. It was a fairly typical, ordinary airfield where hundreds of ordinary men and women laboured around the clock to carry out extraordinary actions, taking the war right to the heart of one of the most evil regimes in history. As much of what was being attempted had never been tried before, it is not surprising that errors were made. At the very cutting edge of technology, confronted by the hostile natural elements of the skies and hunted by a well-equipped, skilful and determined enemy, it is testimony to the courage of the men concerned that they achieved as much as they did.


The Strategic Air Offensive, in essence a scheme to remove an opponent’s capacity and, indeed, will to wage war effectively, grew out of the German Zeppelin and Gotha raids of the First World War and came to dominate both military and political thinking throughout the 1920s and 1930s. As Harold Macmillan wrote in his memoirs, ‘We thought of air warfare in 1938 rather like people think of nuclear war today.’ The public long remembered Prime Minister Stanley Baldwin’s chilling statement made in the House of Commons on 10 November 1932: ‘No power on earth can protect the man in the street from being bombed. Whatever people might tell him, the bomber will always get through.’ Living in the shadow of the bomber, it became widely accepted that there were only two effective defences against such a ‘knock-out blow’: first, to disarm, and secondly, to out-stick and out-punch an opponent. Britain tried the former and after the inevitable failure, switched to the latter in the mid-1930s.
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The memorial stone on the lawn outside the former officers’ mess commemorating the wartime role of 419, 420 and 428 Squadrons, RCAF, 6 Group, Bomber Command. (C.J. Archer)


Plans were hurriedly drawn up for new, long-range heavy bombers and for their development, later codified as the Western Air Plans. This blueprint for the Strategic Air Offensive against Germany focused upon weakening the Luftwaffe and the German aircraft industry – thereby protecting Britain from aerial assault – and destroying Germany’s heavy industry, oil industry, administrative and communication centres, transportation system, including shipping, and fatally undermining its willingness to fight. Target selection was by no means as random as it might first appear. Much of what the squadrons based at Middleton St George were doing must be placed within this historical context.


Plans are subject to revision and modification and the Air Ministry accepted that the day-to-day necessities and exigencies of war had to take precedence so that Bomber Command often found itself operating well beyond its original brief. It also had to admit that the Command initially lacked the technological means to carry out its own plans in any meaningful manner and, in many ways, its 6-year-long offensive is the story of the advances made by the boffins in the back rooms. The Bomber Command of May 1945 bore little resemblance to that of September 1939.


The men and women stationed at Middleton St George played their full part in that long offensive and the airfield’s ‘battle honours’ chart the Command’s and the war’s progress – the Battle of the Atlantic, the Thousand Bomber Raids, the Battle of the Ruhr, the Battle of Hamburg, the Battle of Berlin, the Normandy Campaign, operations against shipping, the V-weapons and the final assault upon Germany.


After the war it became fashionable to criticise the Strategic Air Offensive and vilify those who participated in it. Only towards the end of the twentieth century was a more balanced, revisionist view promulgated. The actions of the Command, including those carried out by 76, 78, 419, 420 and 428 Squadrons based at Middleton St George, must be placed in and judged by their full historical context. The government, the armed forces and the man in the street fully expected that the bomber would be used in war, both against them and by them. It was acknowledged to be a blunt and horrifying weapon but few standing at the graveside of a loved one, or in the midst of the rubble that was once a cherished home, a school, a hospital, a church or cathedral in any number of towns and cities the length and breadth of Britain, voiced any qualms or concerns about Bomber Command’s assault on Hitler’s Reich. A handful did but theirs were merely feeble voices in the wilderness, overwhelmed by the powerful demands to hit back hard and bring the war to a speedy end. For the vast majority of the population of grim wartime Britain and of the many countries enduring German repression and occupation, the mighty roar of Lancasters, Halifaxes, Wellingtons, Whitleys and Hampdens thundering overhead was an immensely cheering and positive sound, pounding out an unmistakable message – Britain and her allies meant business. It is to their eternal credit that they did.




CHAPTER 1


The Building of a Bomber Station


The advent of the aeroplane marked the beginning of a whole new industry. Not only was there the manufacture of the aeroplane itself and all its components but there was all the paraphernalia that was necessary to fly it. As time went on and technology advanced, this paraphernalia became increasingly sophisticated and, like Topsy, just grew and grew. So did the space needed for the aircraft to take off and land, to be stored and maintained.


The first military airfield, or aerodrome as it was known, opened at Larkhill on Salisbury Plain in 1911. Amounting to little more than a reasonably flat field with a collection of wooden sheds and huts, it was the direct ancestor of the later and much larger airfields that followed. By the end of the First World War in November 1918, the fledgling RAF could boast around three hundred operational airfields, though many were not significantly better equipped than the original at Larkhill. Such was the monumental nature of the postwar scale-down that by 1924 there were only twenty-seven operational airfields left. Lincolnshire, one of the RAF heartlands, for example, was reduced to just three out of a wartime thirty-seven stations.


As a wave of anti-militarist views swept through postwar Britain, there were few who complained when the armed forces had their budgets slashed. All three services were consigned to a period of stagnation in which they were barely able to defend and maintain the empire, let alone wage a major war. With the Ten Year Rule, under which a full-scale war was not foreseen within a ten-year period, in operation until 1932, there was no increase in the defence budget until the Geneva Disarmament Conference finally gave up the ghost in 1934. Even then, with economic prudence still the order of the day, expenditure remained low and rearmament painfully and dangerously slow.


During this time the RAF, starved of investment, had made little progress in technological terms and the designs, capabilities and requirements of the bombers, for example, in the mid-1930s were little different from those in the mid-1920s. In airfield terms, all that was required was an adequate stretch of compacted grass for take-off and landing. All that, however, was about to change as the far sighted in the armed forces began to discern the uncertainties of the future a little more clearly and to make plans accordingly.


In the early 1930s, as the disturbing events in Germany were just beginning to unfold, an Air Ministry Works Directorate was formed to plan and oversee the development and construction of new airfields. These were an essential prerequisite for any expansion of the RAF and obviously had to be capable of handling the new generation of aircraft, which were finally making their way on to the designers’ drawing-boards. On 26 May 1934 the Air Ministry Aerodromes Board was set up, under the guidance of the Works Directorate, to work alongside the Air Ministry Lands Branch in the selection and acquisition of suitable sites. The new Aerodromes Board, under the stewardship of two experienced retired officers, AVM C.A.H. Longcroft and Air Cdre the Hon. J.D. Boyle, did not have an easy time of it. Chronically short of staff and run on a shoestring budget, it lacked the power to compulsorily purchase or requisition land; indeed, for most things it was forced to rely on the powers afforded by a relic of the past, the Defence Act of 1842. Much time and effort was wasted upon long-winded and convoluted negotiations with recalcitrant landowners, local authorities and interested parties, such as the Society for the Preservation of Rural England. Indeed, matters were not substantially improved until the passing of the Emergency Powers (Defence) Act in 1939.


The Board did, however, know what it was looking for. The RAF Expansion Scheme A – the first of a long line of such schemes – was approved by Cabinet in July 1934 and set the general pattern for the future, proposing a new force of 28 fighter squadrons and, significantly, 41 bomber squadrons. In March 1935, by which time Germany was beginning to emerge as a realistic threat to Britain and her interests, Scheme C laid down that the RAF’s bombers must be able to reach Berlin. This obviously pointed the Aerodromes Board towards the eastern fringes of England and it was there that the great expansion began.


Instructed to look for suitable sites at least 3 miles apart, the Board began its search by the simple but effective method of using 1-inch Ordnance Survey maps to find flat areas in open country with no obstructions within a circle of 1,100 yards in one direction and 800 yards in two others. The sites should also be some distance from any large town and, preferably, villages too. Areas below 50ft above sea level were discounted owing to the threat of flooding, as were those above 600ft owing to potential problems with low cloud base. Once a suitable location had been selected on a map, a preliminary on-the-spot inspection was made by Board officials, often retired officers paid only a small retainer – and the Air Ministry had to have its arm twisted to pay even that. It is said that the rough rule of thumb test for assessing the suitability of the surface applied by the inspectors was to drive an ordinary car across the site at 20mph and monitor the level of comfort of the passengers within! This simple and rudimentary method proved surprisingly effective.


The final decision rested with the President of the Board:


The President of the Aerodromes Board is personally responsible for the ultimate selection of every potential aerodrome site and this is a heavy responsibility. For example, the selection of a site with poor approaches might well result in accidents to aircraft, which might cost several hundreds of thousands of pounds, quite apart from the loss of human life. Further, when it is remembered that the average cost of an operational station is three quarters of a million pounds, it is clear that the responsibility for the ultimate selection of the site cannot be other than heavy.


In military terms, an airfield cost as much as a cruiser for the Royal Navy and, with an empire to defend, there were many calls to build ships and not airfields. Nevertheless, by the end of 1935 almost a hundred new airfields were either being planned or under construction, at a cost of just under £5 million out of a total RAF budget of £27.5 million. By 1939 the annual expenditure on works was running at over three times the entire RAF budget of 1934, eventually peaking in 1942 at an enormous £145 million.


The first of these new Expansion Scheme airfields began to be completed by late 1935 and 1936, and included such later distinguished names as Waddington, Stradishall, Dishforth, Driffield, Scampton and Wyton. In total seven stations were opened in 1935–6, eight in 1936–7 and six in 1937–8. The stations were not, however, slapdash affairs and much care and attention was put into the design of the buildings. Each of the designs had to be approved by the Fine Arts Commission, following a lengthy period of consultation with a variety of semi-official bodies, such as the Society for the Preservation of Rural England. After all, most of the stations covered in the region of 600 acres, usually of prime agricultural land.


During the war years, when the new and hurriedly built stations were, at best, somewhat spartan, many an envious eye was cast upon the understated elegance and comfort of the neo-Georgian, red-brick official buildings, residences and messes of the pre-war Expansion Scheme airfields. The main buildings followed a more or less standard format to a design by Sir Edwin Lutyens, who received 10 per cent of the value of each work as his fee – a very profitable contract.


Accommodation areas were centralised, with messes for the officers and sergeants enjoying secluded and often landscaped settings. The officers’ mess at Middleton St George, now the very comfortable St George Hotel at Durham Tees Valley Airport, had a large formal dining room, four well appointed sitting rooms or anterooms and the inevitable bar. On the second storey were a number of bedrooms for the officers, giving an impression rather like that of a country hotel. The sergeants’ mess, though less grand, was a comfortable and less formal place to eat, sleep and relax. The well furnished airmen’s quarters were, as usual, near the technical buildings and hangars. Each of the barrack blocks was self-contained, equipped with its own ablution blocks. A handful of single rooms were available for corporals. The NAAFI was the hub of many an airman’s life on the station. A place to meet and chat, and to try to satisfy the young men’s constant craving for food, the NAAFI produced endless cups of strong tea and sandwiches, known throughout the RAF as ‘wads’. The kitchens were fitted out with the latest catering equipment and the food, served cafeteria style, was, on occasion, rumoured to be quite edible. With the resuscitation of the WAAF in June 1939, provision had to be made for new and separate accommodation – Waaferies as they were affectionately known. It was often a sore point that this accommodation, created as it was in more hurried and straitened circumstances, was by no stretch of the imagination as well built or comfortable as that of their male counterparts.
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The imposing statue of Plt Off Andrew Mynarski, who won a posthumous VC in June 1944 while serving at Middleton St George, stands outside what was the officers’ mess, now the St George Hotel at Durham Tees Valley Airport. (C.J. Archer)


Even on the permanent stations there always seemed to be building work going on as attempts were made to keep pace with the ever-changing operational requirements and specifications laid down by the Air Ministry. There were also guardrooms, sick quarters, store rooms, wooden huts and brick-built huts of indeterminate origin and purpose, and from March 1941 the ubiquitous Nissen hut constructed of iron sheets fixed to a steel frame and concrete base. In total there were a couple of hundred buildings on site in Middleton St George.


Among the last batch of pre-war Expansion Scheme stations was RAF Middleton St George, the recently formed Bomber Command’s most northerly station and the only one in County Durham. Work began on the site, known locally as Goosepool on account of a nearby farm, in 1938. The selected site was at just 115ft above sea level and about 5 miles east of the large market town of Darlington. Further east towards the coast were the industrial towns of Middlesbrough and Stockton; about 20 miles to the south-east lay the North Yorkshire Moors and about the same distance to the west lay the high ground of the Pennines; to the south lay the flat Vale of York which was already home for stations like Dishforth, Leeming and Catterick. In line with Air Ministry practice the construction contracts were put out to tender and it fell to the well established firm of Miskins Ltd, based over 250 miles away in St Albans, to act as main contractor, alongside the large national company Wimpey.


Progress was slow, partly due to the dreadful conditions on the site but mainly due to a shortage of materials. With the LNER railway line running alongside the airfield’s perimeter fence and Dinsdale station barely a mile away, truck-loads of hard core taken from demolished brick kilns in the village of Howden-le-Wear, about 20 miles away, were delivered to the constructors. This was supplemented by tons of shale from the local small towns of Sacriston and Shildon and wagon-loads of ash and slag from the power stations and great steel works on Teesside. About 130,000 tons of such materials were needed to construct the foundations for the runways, taxiways, hardstandings, paths and roads on the station. Some eighty men were employed at Dinsdale railway station unloading the trucks, mostly by hand.


Jobs were in short supply in south Durham throughout the 1930s and there was initially no shortage of men ready to work on this sizeable construction site, in spite of the poor terms and conditions. With the outbreak of war, however, the position changed considerably as the manpower was rapidly siphoned off into the armed forces. Greater demands were also placed upon the national supply of materials and consequently progress slowed down considerably.


There were the usual problems with drainage – a result of so much building work, tarmac and concrete disturbing the natural drainage patterns – and attempts to improve the situation initially proved fruitless. After some time, and with the site showing little sign of improvement, Lawrence Logan, the site manager, came across an elderly local man who knew the area well. Upon having the problems explained to him, the old man showed little surprise. He told Logan to follow him and set off across the waterlogged morass to the southwest side of the site. A few hundred yards later he stopped and pointed out a half-hidden and thoroughly overgrown large ditch. It took several men 9 hours to clear away the debris and vegetation to reveal beneath a very large, and very blocked, brick-built drain, the previous owner’s solution to the same problem. Once this drain was cleared, the water levels subsided considerably and allowed Middleton St George eventually to pass the standard rule of thumb test for suitable drainage – which involved driving a 3-ton lorry over the field without leaving appreciable tyre tracks.


Conditions, however, remained poor on the windswept field during the harsh winter of 1939/40 and four men died on site owing to a combination of the extreme cold, hard work and meagre supplies of food. When rumblings of severe discontent were heard emanating from the local union officials – war or no war – an application was made to the Air Ministry for additional clothing and boots, especially Wellington boots, to be made available to the workforce without the usual coupons. However, the conditions really only improved as the winter came to an end.


The amount of work to be completed kept on increasing as the Air Ministry requirements were updated, particularly with the planned introduction of the four-engined heavy Halifaxes. In the end, well behind the original time schedule, RAF Middleton St George comprised a full complement of brick-built buildings with full utility services and telephone communications, together with one 2,000ft (later extended again to 2,400ft) runway and another at 1,400ft, both linked by a 50ft-wide perimeter taxiway, built of concrete 6 inches thick, to the hardstandings, each of which was 125ft in diameter. All aerial activity was directed from a state-of-the-art control tower, the top storey of which was almost completely made of glass in order to provide an uninterrupted view of the airfield and the sky around.


There were several main hangars scattered around the station, although these were rarely used for the mere storage of aircraft as is often thought. Most of the main servicing of the aircraft took place in these vast, draughty and dimly lit enclosures, with most of the day-today maintenance work being carried out in the open, whatever the weather. Middleton St George boasted one C-type hangar, 152ft wide, mainly constructed in brick and steel in an attempt to match the other buildings, though there was some use of the cheaper asbestos; one J-type hangar, 300ft long and 150ft wide, again constructed of brick and with a curved roof made of ¼-inch steel sheets; one B1-type hangar, which had a much smaller span of 87ft and was made of steel, with large doors of the same material at each end; two T2 hangars, 240ft in length and with a span of 115ft, built with a pre-fabricated and rapidly constructed steel frame and skin. The T2 hangars had, in fact, been designed a few miles down the road in 1940, as a result of a collaboration between the Ministry of Defence and the Teesbridge and Engineering Works.


Brick-built offices and workshops were added externally along the length of the hangars. These were, in many ways, the nerve centres of the squadrons, providing workshops, store rooms, flight offices and crew rooms where the ubiquitous tea and wads were available for the aircrew who often hung around the offices, waiting to find out the latest ‘gen’. An everincreasing number of Nissen huts, Romney huts and a variety of other huts and sheds were dotted over the airfield, providing office space, storage space, workshops, rest areas and boltholes for ground staff and shelter for motor transport, tractors, trolleys, fuel bowsers and all the rest of the paraphernalia needed to run a busy airfield and service a community of well over a thousand men and women, and these completed the operational furniture of the station.


All of this was hard to disguise from the air, but camouflage was a necessity given the intruder attacks carried out by the Luftwaffe all over the country in 1940 and 1941. As a result the hangars were painted dull green and brown and had scrimmed netting fixed to the sides. Great efforts were made to break up the obvious layout and shape of the airfield by blending in with the surrounding field patterns, whether by ploughing, cutting the grass in the same direction or even planting crops. Several of the early arrivals at Middleton recall seeing a good crop of growing corn waving in the middle of the airfield in the summer of 1941.


The final additions to the plans came about as the result of hard-won battle experience. The pre-war plans had paid surprisingly little attention to airfield defence and the safety of the personnel stationed there, beyond placing the bomb dump and armoury some distance from the main areas. However, this major omission had been recognised and rectified by the time Middleton was nearing completion. Slit trenches were dug, and road blocks and pill boxes, protected by barbed-wire entanglements, were placed on all the entrances to the station, manned initially by elements of the local regiment, the Durham Light Infantry. Several light flak positions were added as defence against attack from the air. Air raid shelters, each capable of sheltering fifty people, were constructed and several open blast shelters, their walls submerged beneath earthen banks, were also built. The hangars too were protected to some extent against the effects of blast; an ingenious design allowed the doors to be filled with gravel up to a depth of 20ft. Fortunately the defences at Middleton St George were never called upon in earnest, though those at several of the airfields nearby were.


RAF Middleton St George finally opened as part of No. 4 Group, Bomber Command, on 15 January 1941, though building work continued well into 1942 and a station works flight of about eighty men, under the command of a warrant officer, was formed as 5007 Airfield Construction Squadron to work alongside the civilian contractors in putting the finishing touches to the project. In fact, new technology, constant expansion and new operational demands meant that the work never did really come to an end. Nevertheless, the station was ready enough to fulfil its basic function and become an operational cog in the giant machine that was Bomber Command. It was, however, also the home, for varying periods of time, to well over a thousand men and women. Although much of their time would be spent on the station itself, they were to have a considerable impact upon the small villages and communities nearby. Though radically changed in character, to a large extent the airfield – and its personnel – still does.




CHAPTER 2


First Steps


The first RAF personnel arrived at a windswept Middleton St George in the depths of the harsh northern winter a few days after Christmas in 1940. As they surveyed the desolate and unfinished airfield, still strewn with building equipment and ankle deep in semi-frozen mud, A/Flt Lt H. Dear and Flg Off S. Lockie, who opened the station on a care and maintenance basis, must have wondered just where they had been posted. The winter was especially fierce that year and the dire conditions made their task more taxing so that it would take much longer than expected. Although the station was formally accepted as part of No. 4 Group on 15 January 1941, under the overall command of AVM Arthur Coningham, then based at Heslington Hall near York, there was still much to be done before it could be declared operational.


When A/Sqn Ldr D.G. Singleton arrived to assume command the following day, he found more tradesmen than RAF personnel, as contractors battled to get the work roughly back on track and on schedule. Although the main buildings were complete, there was still much to be done to make them functional and inhabitable, such as the provision of running water, electricity cables, heaters, telephone lines, drains and a thousand and one little things needed to support and sustain the station and its sizeable future personnel. This was no easy task well over a year into the war, when pre-war supplies had long since run out and war economies meant shortages and delays, even for approved war work. Singleton did his best to create some order out of the chaos, riding roughshod over established working practices when necessary. He had no choice; the initial batch of airmen, some 305-strong, were due to arrive from Blackpool on the 17th. Almost as if on cue, the bleak northern winter closed in again on the day they arrived and welcomed the airmen with a chilly gale, freezing temperatures and a generous helping of snow and ice. The partially completed domestic heating and water systems were unable to cope with the semi-polar conditions and after just two days 253 of the airmen were sent home on 7 days’ leave. Conditions for the skeleton staff left behind were bleak indeed, especially as there was little for them to do since the weather had brought most of the work to a standstill.


Towards the end of the month the weather relaxed its icy grip sufficiently for work to get under way once more and for a number of distinguished persons to visit the fledgling airfield. Coningham, anxious to get the airfield operational and increase the fire-power of his Group, arrived at 11:30 on 4 February to see the situation for himself and to review the site of the proposed satellite airfield at nearby Croft on the Yorkshire side of the River Tees. Coningham’s anxiety can be judged from the fact that he issued specific orders for all work to continue as normal throughout his visit. What he saw can scarcely have alleviated his fears as he saw at first hand how much there was still to do.


Little by little, however, things began to progress smoothly and gradually order came out of chaos as each part of the enormous jigsaw began to slot into place. Some time was even clawed back from the battered time schedule before the dreadful weather intervened once more. On 19 February it began to snow heavily and it did so without a break for over 36 hours. All work on the vital runways, roads, paths, buildings and services was brought to a dead stop. Everything remained buried beneath a thick white blanket until the 27th, when a rapid thaw set in. One hindrance was simply exchanged for another less picturesque one as several feet of snow quickly melted causing severe flooding; the whole airfield became a vast, glutinous sea of mud. It was early March before any serious construction work could begin again.


However, by 29 March the work was sufficiently completed for an Advance Working Party of 78 Squadron to be sent to Middleton from Dishforth, another 4 Group bomber airfield situated about 30 miles to the south in North Yorkshire, near Ripon. One of the first to arrive was AC2 Derek Beasley, who had volunteered for the RAF the day after his 19th birthday and had just completed his initial training at RAF Melksham in Wiltshire. Full of excitement and trepidation at his first posting, he was more than a little disappointed at what he found. Not for him a Biggin Hill, a Scampton, a Linton-on-Ouse or even a Dishforth, bustling with purposeful activity and actively participating in the air war. Instead, the scene that greeted him still greatly resembled a First World War battlefield. His dismay grew considerably more when he noticed that even the runways were still incomplete. It seemed possible that the war might be three parts won before the airfield was able to make a positive contribution to winning it. However, he had little time to reflect upon the vagaries of the posting system as he was quickly put to work preparing for the arrival of his new squadron under the guidance of the Station Engineering Officer, Flt Lt Lane. One of his first, yet abiding, memories of those early days was the bitter weather: ‘One of the things I will always remember was the strong winds that seemed to blow all day and only die down in the evening, probably straight from the North Sea.’ It was especially noticeable as much of the Advance Party’s work had to be done outside.


By 30 March things were rapidly coming together. On that day the bomb store, a little way from the main site, began to receive and stockpile its deadly commodities and a delegation from 4 Group, headed by Lt Col Theobald, arrived to assess the station’s readiness. The decision was made that it would be ready to receive 78 Squadron on 7 April 1941, subject to AVM Coningham’s final approval. Coningham had to weigh up the situation at Middleton St George with his desire to get the station operational and the disruption that would inevitably be caused to 78 Squadron and 4 Group’s operational strength for the period of the move. After due consideration Coningham gave the go-ahead for the 7th and on that day all ground personnel of 78 Squadron headed north by road. This was to be a very busy time for the ground staff who, working against the clock and under pressure to get everything ready to receive the aircraft and get them back into the war, immediately set to and laboured all hours in strange and still far from perfect conditions. Just two days later, on 9 April, sixteen Whitley Vs under the command of Wg Cdr Basil Robinson made the short journey from Dishforth and landed safely at Middleton St George.
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A typical ‘area load’ is towed out from the bomb dump. In the foreground are two 4,000lb high-capacity bombs followed by trolleys of small bomb containers filled with incendiaries. (Department of National Defence PL 26964)


The newly arrived aircrew were just as surprised by the appalling state of the airfield as the airmen had been a couple of weeks earlier. A.D. Barker, who later earned a DFC, recalls his first landing at the squadron’s new home: ‘The squadron flew from Dishforth on 9 April 1941 to Middleton and I remember very plainly workmen still working everywhere on the station. Dirt was piled high at either side of the runway and civil lorries were busy carting it away.’ He, like many others, was mightily relieved to find that there was at least one oasis of comfort and warmth amid the muddy wastelands. The officers’ mess, equipped with a well stocked bar, had been finally completed and fitted out. As the squadron settled in to its new surroundings, a congratulatory message was received from AVM Coningham, officially welcoming RAF Middleton St George into 4 Group as an operational – if slightly incomplete – bomber station. It was not long before the station was called upon to begin repaying the enormous amount of time, money and effort invested in it. Middleton St George was going to war.


FIRST OPERATIONS IN SUPPORT OF THE BATTLE OF THE ATLANTIC


The airfield was abuzz on the morning of 12 April 1941. The past few days had seen a great deal of frantic work by everyone on the station as each section sorted itself out and made ready for operations. If there had been any time left after that, there was enough to keep everyone busy adjusting to their new and not very homely surroundings. A certain degree of order was beginning to establish itself when the teleprinter rattled out its first operational directions from 4 Group Headquarters. The ‘freshman’ crews – those who were not yet fully operational and were generally given comparatively easy assignments in order to gain much-needed experience – were to attack targets in Ostend’s dock area.


The ground crews and armourers immediately set to work preparing the slender Whitleys for the night’s operation. Met. reports were prepared, flight plans put together, intelligence reports scrutinised and briefings held – only for the operation to be called off late in the day on account of inclement weather. On the next day, ominously the 13th, the same happened. It looked as if Bomber Command’s newest and most northerly operational airfield was going to be a non-starter.


On the 14th Gp Capt T.C. Traill OBE, DFC, arrived from Bomber Command HQ at High Wycombe to take over command of Middleton St George from Wg Cdr Robinson. He arrived to find that eight aircraft were scheduled to attack Mannheim that night. However, the jinx held fast and the attack was called off owing to bad weather over the target area. A little later on further orders were received for an attack upon the German battlecruisers Scharnhorst and Gneisenau at Brest. New preparations were hurriedly made and take-off began at 21:30 hours. Although one of the aircraft was forced to return early owing to problems with its port engine, the remaining seven Whitleys pressed on to find between 2 and 5/10ths cloud cover at 4,000ft over the harbour and dock areas. This patchy cloud was enough to mask the major warships, though several other ships were seen lying alongside the quay. The crews noted a fair number of bomb bursts in the target area in spite of a considerable amount of heavy flak. All of Middleton’s aircraft returned safely. Marked by nothing more than a few beers in the mess, the first operation to be carried out from RAF Middleton St George was over. A couple of days later the crews could read in the local newspaper, the Northern Echo, claims by the Vichy government that the raid had had little effect upon the dockyards but had caused the deaths of 76 Frenchmen and women living nearby. The paper also carried reports from German radio that Admiral Raeder had personally visited Brest and that ‘he had inspected vessels that had been engaged in the Battle of the Atlantic and convinced himself of their readiness for renewed service’. Even if they took any notice of such comments, by then the crews had much more to think about.


Once the operational ball had started to roll it gathered a momentum of its own, a momentum that would carry on almost without pause for over four long years. On the 16th nine of 78 Squadron’s Whitleys were made ready and bombed-up for a raid on the most prestigious and emotive target of them all – Berlin, the symbolic heart of the Nazi regime. But the crews were to be denied this popular line-shoot and were left feeling both let-down and relieved when, at 16:50 hours, orders were received from 4 Group switching the target from Berlin to Bremen. Only six of the aircraft that left the airfield that night actually reached and attacked Bremen; the remainder attacked either the alternative target or targets of opportunity at Wilhelmshaven, Oldenburg and Texel airfield. This was about par for the course on a night when widespread cloud and thick ground fog meant that only 74 of the 107 aircraft dispatched claimed to have hit Bremen and its environs. However unsatisfying the night’s work may have been, at least all of 78 Squadron’s aircraft came back safely.


The following night, 17 April, the name Berlin once again appeared on the briefing-room map. This time 78 Squadron was to provide just 4 of the 28 Whitleys that attacked the German capital that night out of a total force of 118 aircraft. Poor conditions on the ground once more thwarted the raiders and only two dropped their deadly loads upon the designated target.
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‘Flak so thick you could get out and walk on it.’ The kind of spectacular but lethal sight that regularly greeted crews from Middleton St George over the Port Militaire, Brest, early in 1941. (Imperial War Museum C 1856)


The duff weather lifted sufficiently on the 20th for a single freshman crew to attack the oil storage depot in Rotterdam. The inexperienced crew made a good job of their operational sortie, diving down from 10,000ft to below 3,000ft to ensure that their load fell on to what was by then a substantial concentration of fires. Such determination would be repeated many times in the years ahead.


German naval units in Brest were the target on the 23rd. Eight of 78 Squadron’s aircraft dropped their bombs in and around the harbour area but the ninth, Z6484, piloted by the experienced Sqn Ldr Mercer, failed to identify the target clearly through the cloud, smoke and searchlight glare. Mindful of the French men, women and children beneath him and ignoring the sporadic bursts of flak and the probing searchlights, Mercer circled Brest for over an hour in the hope that conditions would improve sufficiently for him to make a successful attack. When it became obvious that this was not going to happen, Mercer set course for home and landed safely at Middleton, still carrying a full bomb-load.


The weather, which seemed to have dogged Middleton St George from the outset, closed in once again and only a single operation was able to be mounted before the end of the month – and that was not a conspicuous success. Of the four freshman crews detailed to attack Rotterdam, only one succeeded in finding the target through the murk and of the ten experienced crews detailed to attack the elusive Mannheim, itself a late target change from Hamburg on account of the conditions, only eight completed the sortie successfully. Of the other two, one was scrubbed at take-off when the pilot fell ill and the other sustained damage while taxiing and was forced to abort. The station’s first month had been a bitty and largely unsatisfactory one, mainly on account of the weather. The saving grace had been a total absence of casualties, an all too rare occurrence in the months to come. At least a start had been made and much valuable experience had been gained, both by those on the ground and those in the air.


May began much as April had ended, with conditions doing much to belie the fact it was well into spring and causing the scrubbing of several sorties. On the 3rd fourteen crews, including, unusually, two freshman crews, were briefed for an attack on the major railway confluence at Cologne. For Wg Cdr Basil Robinson in Whitley Z6466 it was a long, hard night’s work. His sortie to Cologne lasted from 22:05 to 07:15 hours, placing a tremendous strain upon pilot and crew both physically and mentally, especially as the rear gunner suffered shrapnel wounds over the target and was in need of proper medical attention. There was little anyone could do except wait for the old Whitley to plod its pedestrian way home through the dark and hostile skies, a fact that did little to ease the mental strain on the wounded gunner and crew.


For some the very length of time spent in the air could be a matter of life or death. Sgt Hatcher’s aircraft successfully attacked Cologne from 15,000ft that night and had already turned for home when the W/Op reported his set U/S. In the pitch black and in poor weather and unable to pick up a fix on the airfield as he crossed the North Sea, Hatcher flew his aircraft up and down the east coast, hoping that conditions might improve enough for the crews’ straining eyes to catch sight of a known landmark to enable them to pinpoint their position. Despairing of success and desperately short of fuel, Hatcher eventually headed inland. Almost immediately, both engines began to splutter. Using the last precious gallons of fuel, Hatcher dragged the Whitley to 3,000ft and ordered his crew to bale out. All of the crew landed safely but were amazed to find that they had landed in Hertfordshire, over 200 miles south of where they had expected. Their flight had lasted a nerve-shattering 9 hours and 45 minutes.


Two nights later 12 aircraft headed for Mannheim once again and a single freshman crew formed part of a 5-strong force to attack the port area of Boulogne. The raid on Mannheim was a large one by the standards of the day, with some 141 aircraft taking part. The 10/10ths cloud that greeted the bombers prevented about twenty crews from locating the target area but the remainder pressed home their attack as accurately as possible. German records show a depressingly small return for the gallantry and determination shown that night. City officials estimated just 25 bomb-loads fell on the city, causing 19 small fires that destroyed a house and a barn, badly damaged four more houses and slightly damaged a further 199. Four people and some fifty rabbits and chickens were killed. The effect upon industrial production was negligible, in spite of the demolition of an electricity pylon and the severing of a water main. Mercifully and unusually, all of Bomber Command’s aircraft returned safely.


Fortunately hope springs eternal and on 7 May Middleton St George dispatched a total of 15 aircraft against the Scharnhorst and Gneisenau, still holed up in Brest. For the first time the weather behaved itself and visibility was excellent in the bright moonlight. The official records for 4 Group optimistically declared that ‘although no actual hits on the warships are claimed, all the crews were satisfied that the great majority of bombs fell around the target’. Once again all the 78 Squadron crews returned safely. Unfortunately the tired crews found themselves awoken earlier than usual on the morning after an operation to prepare for an inspection visit. AVM Coningham arrived by air in mid-morning and made a formal inspection of the station before taking a more casual meal with many of the squadron’s aircrews. The New Zealander overran his schedule and did not depart until 16:40 hours, having stayed on to watch the preparations for that night’s operation against the dockyards of Bremen.


This was to be a big night for Bomber Command as a whole, with a record 364 sorties being made against not only Bremen but also Hamburg and the Kiel Canal. A maximum effort, codenamed ‘Goodwood’, was demanded from all stations and 78 Squadron worked hard to provide a full complement of 16 aircraft. The special effect was somewhat lessened when one aircraft was accidentally damaged on take-off and was forced to abort its sortie. However, the remainder pressed on through thick, solid cloud, which did not begin to break up until they crossed the enemy coast. By the time the aircraft reached the target area there was only a thin layer of haze covering the large Deutsche Schiff Werke. The crews returned home confident that a good job had been done. No. 4 Group noted: ‘There is no doubt that it was hit by some aircraft and that all bombs fell within a fairly close radius of the Aiming Point. Large fires were seen, particularly oil fires, close to the target and there is no doubt that this Group’s record attack up to date has caused very heavy damage in Bremen.’ For Middleton St George the cost of this success was its first casualties. Sgt Thorpe and his crew, who took off at 22:25 hours in Whitley T4147 EY-D, probably sustained damage over the target area and crashed at Helsfelde, killing all on board.


On the ground at Middleton St George there was an increased level of tension and anxiety as strenuous efforts were made to improve the station’s defences against air attack. The catalyst for this burst of activity was the attacks that took place on the night of the 12th against the airfields at Driffield and Linton-on-Ouse. At Driffield intruder aircraft scattered incendiary bombs across the station but fortunately caused little damage and only a few minor casualties. The situation was far more serious at Linton where sporadic attacks, using high explosive and incendiary bombs and machine-guns, took place over a period of two hours. Considerable damage was caused to the station and eleven people were killed, including the Station Commander, Gp Capt F.F. Garraway OBE. A further eight were injured, one seriously. Nevertheless Linton was fully operational again by the 15th. These attacks brought home the harsh realities of war to those serving on all the stations in 4 Group. Although other airfields in the Group did indeed later receive the lethal attentions of the Luftwaffe, as it turned out Middleton never did, though the threat was a real and onerous one.


With even the security of ‘home’ being threatened, the freshman crews must have wondered just what they had got themselves into. With one milk-run to Boulogne cancelled on account of poor weather over the target, Christopher Cheshire, whose brother Leonard was already carving out a formidable reputation in Bomber Command, was very relieved to get the green light for another crack at the French port on 15 May. Although he had flown as ‘second dickey’ on a couple of raids, this was to be his first as captain and he was all keyed up not to make a mess of it. Taking off in Z6625 L for Leather, Cheshire set course and headed south. Finding the target was dead easy: all he had to do was head towards the conglomeration of searchlights and flak on the far side of the Channel. Swallowing hard and concentrating upon his instruments, Cheshire worked hard to keep his lumbering Whitley steady and on track through the maelstrom of flak bursting all around. Well aware that his aircraft was taking a pounding from shrapnel from near-misses, Cheshire heartily welcomed the news that his bombs had been successfully dropped on the docks and turned away from this ‘easy’ target. He called for damage reports from his crew and each man wondered whether the mangled Whitley would make it back to British shores, each listening intently to the engines, straining to detect any extraneous and unusual noises. As it turned out, Cheshire was able to nurse the aircraft all the way back to Middleton where he landed safely. The faint light of dawn revealed a frightening scene. The Whitley closely resembled the proverbial colander, with whole chunks having being blown away by the flak. Seeing the airmen looking somewhat overwhelmed by the extent of the damage, and with a glance at the bomber which was looking very sorry for itself in the cold light of day, two soldiers of the Durham Light Infantry based at the airfield were heard to remark on their way to breakfast: ‘Well, mate, ah dinnit mind sayin’, they’ll niver git me in one of them bloody things!’ All in all, it had been an interesting night for the freshman crew.


The volatile meteorological situation only allowed 78 Squadron to put up two raids on Cologne before 27 May. On that date fourteen crews were already briefed and the aircraft bombed-up ready for an attack on Wilhelmshaven when word came through cancelling the operation, once again as the result of poor weather. However, before the crews could begin to relax and plan their evening’s entertainment, fresh orders were received designating a new and important target: the mighty 42,900-ton battleship Tirpitz, then residing in the enormous southern floating dock at Kiel.


No. 78 Squadron was to provide the entire assault force of fourteen aircraft, and their task was to damage this naval goliath, which was almost ready for service. The bad weather that had caused the scrubbing of the Wilhelmshaven raid was just as prevalent over Kiel, and as the elderly Whitleys laboured to the north German port they encountered 10/10ths cloud and severe electrical storms. This resulted in both heavy icing and lightning strikes that played over the fuselage, wing tips, leading edges of the wings and airscrews, illuminating the whole aircraft and scaring the living daylights out of the already tense and anxious crews. Four of the aircraft were unable to make any sort of attack and only one succeeded in identifying the target through the murk. No. 4 Group records noted the desperate nature of the attack and matter-of-factly stated: ‘Under these conditions definite pinpointing was impossible and the few observations made cannot be definitely positioned.’ For the crews it had been a perilous and terrifying experience and for one crew, that of Sgt A.T. Copley, it was their last. Thankfully the futile nature of such raids was noted and a repeat sortie planned for 31 May was cancelled.


Things were changing apace at Middleton St George. On 4 June six Halifax four-engined bombers of 76 Squadron, complete with accompanying personnel, arrived from Linton under the command of Wg Cdr G.T. Jarman. Reformed from C Flight 35 Squadron at Linton on 12 April 1941 under the command of Wg Cdr S.O. Bufton – later to enjoy a successful and influential career in both Bomber Command and at the Air Ministry – 76 Squadron had only recently finished the conversion course to Halifaxes and had yet to make an operational flight against the enemy. For some of the crews, still recovering from their recent brush with the Luftwaffe, the move from Linton came as a bit of a surprise.


AC2 Cyril Tuckwell was posted to 76 Squadron following the completion of his Fitter II E course at Cosford. Informed that the squadron was at Linton,


I arrived at York station and was taken by RAF transport to RAF Linton-on-Ouse only to find that it was now the home of 35 Squadron. My squadron had just left for RAF Middleton St George, near Darlington in Co. Durham. No. 76 Squadron, you see, had been re-formed from one of the flights from 35 Squadron. So, after eventually finding and spending the night in temporary accommodation at Linton, off I went again by RAF transport the next morning, kit and all.


Things had changed significantly at Middleton since the first arrivals in January and Cyril found it ‘an extremely nice camp, with the usual brick-built two-storey sleeping accommodation’. He was by no means alone in having to learn the ropes in a new station, as a veritable stream of new recruits flowed into the expanding station to meet the number of ground personnel needed to maintain and support two front-line squadrons. Middleton St George was, at last, reaching its full operational capacity.


While the personnel of 76 Squadron were busy settling in and sorting themselves out, 78 Squadron carried on with the war, or rather would have done but for the weather which continued to frustrate the senior officers at Bomber Command and 4 Group. It lifted sufficiently on the 8th to allow ten of 78 Squadron’s Whitleys to operate against Dortmund. On this occasion the crews were thwarted by the thick industrial haze hanging over the city and three of the aircraft were compelled to seek out and bomb alternative targets. On their return to Britain the crews found to their dismay that the weather had closed in considerably since their departure. Only five of the Whitleys managed to land at Middleton, with two others putting down at Linton and Silloth. Another force-landed, luckily without causing casualties, some 20 miles east of Lancaster, but the crew led by Sgt D.R. Simon was not so fortunate. All of them were killed as the aircraft crashed in very poor conditions into fields adjacent to the village of Ellingstring, near Masham, in North Yorkshire.


The fifth crew had a hair-raising time. Chris Cheshire lifted the resilient and patched-up Z6625 L for Leather from the runway at Middleton at 22:25 hours and set course for Dortmund. Having dropped his bomb-load over the target area, Cheshire set course for home and flew almost immediately into 10/10ths cloud. Unable to climb out of the cloud, the aircraft ploughed straight on, hoping to fly out of it nearer home. Unfortunately no gaps appeared and both Cheshire and his navigator, Slim Smalley, were forced to admit that they had only the sketchiest of ideas where they were. By this time they had been airborne for well over 6 hours and fuel was running dangerously low, and with the Pennines reaching up to almost 3,000ft the outlook seemed bleak. Cheshire gingerly dropped down through the cloud to 2,500ft, the crew’s eyes standing out like organ stops as they searched desperately for somewhere to land, and suddenly green fields were spotted briefly through a small break in the cloud. Heaving the Whitley round in a tight turn and pushing her nose down towards the fast-disappearing patch of green, Z6625 emerged from the cloud and fog at 500ft. With the fuel gauges already resting on empty, Cheshire, praying that the field was relatively flat, managed to slam the wheels down on to the grass and stood hard on the brakes. A sturdy drystone wall loomed out of the gloom and the Whitley seemed magnetically drawn towards it. Everyone braced themselves for the crash but the Whitley came to a halt with a lurch 10 yards from the wall. As it did so the port engine cut out, the fuel tanks dry. Relieved to be alive, the crew set out to find help and in the process discovered that they were near the village of Clapham on the Cumberland/West Yorkshire border. They had landed in the largest field around. Such is the fine line between success and failure, life and death.


The night of 12 June proved to be an important one for Bomber Command, with some 339 sorties being made. It was also a big night for Middleton as 76 Squadron went to war for the first time. Three Halifaxes, piloted by Flt Lt Hillary, Plt Off Lewin and Plt Off Richards, formed part of the 18-strong force directed to attack the chemical works at Hüls. It was not to be the most auspicious of starts. Plt Off Lewin took off at 23:34, only to return within the hour with engine trouble. Flt Lt Hillary got as far as the German border before severe engine trouble forced him to set course for home; he landed at Middleton with a full bomb-load after being airborne for 5 hours. Although Plt Off Richards’ engines did not let him down, he was unable to identify Hüls so attacked Essen as a worthwhile alternative.


The twelve aircraft of 78 Squadron fared little better on their raid to nearby Schwerte. Once again the Ruhr’s inadvertent industrial defences thwarted the attackers and 4 Group noted: ‘Over the target area thick haze made positive identification difficult . . . [and] obscured all ground detail and bombs must have been dropped over a wide area. Photos taken show that most of the bombs were dropped in open country.’ The night’s only saving grace was that all of Middleton’s aircraft returned safely.


On 15 June the station saw its first, but by no means last, serious accidental crash, reminding the crews that flying was an inherently dicey business. With the station’s aircraft detailed to attack targets in Düsseldorf and Hannover, a number of final air tests took place throughout the afternoon in order to iron out any last-minute problems. The gentle and routine order of things was rudely shattered when one aircraft of 76 Squadron, coming in to land, managed to collide with another Halifax already on the ground and taxiing. Both aircraft were seriously damaged but fortunately the crews received nothing worse than cuts and bruises – and an almighty fright. However, the twisted and tangled remains of the aircraft took some time to clear and, once removed, substantial damage to the runway itself was revealed. A frantic race against the clock began in an effort to enable the remaining aircraft to take off as planned that evening. In the end 4 Group solved the problem by scrubbing the operation on account of poor weather conditions over Germany.


Everything was shipshape once again for the next night when a total of fourteen aircraft from 78 Squadron and three from 76 Squadron were ordered to attack aiming point C in Cologne, which was smothered, as it turned out, by its protective industrial smog. For Sgt Geale’s crew it was a nerve-wracking night spent watching their fuel gauges. A petrol cock had been wrongly assembled and only the wing tanks could be used for the starboard engine of the Whitley. The fuel eventually gave out over RAF Marham and, with one engine stopped and the other beginning to display signs of fuel starvation, Geale ordered his crew to bale out. The rear gunner did so promptly but the other crew members chose to stay with the aircraft and their captain and hastily took up crash positions. Geale carried out a textbook one-engine landing just as Marham switched on the flarepath lighting and only a little after the obedient rear gunner had touched down safely. Refuelled, the aircraft returned to Middleton the next morning. Plt Off D.S.W. Lake and crew in Whitley Z6492 EY-K, however, did not return and vanished without trace, having taken off at 22:32. The dread reaper was taking a steady toll.


The 20th also proved to be a hard night for the crews from Middleton. Ten aircraft from 78 Squadron and five from 76 Squadron set off for Kiel to try to locate and attack the Tirpitz. No aircraft succeeded in doing so amid the thick cloud and Kiel itself became the main focus of the attack. A wall of flak greeted the raiders and it was flak that damaged the port engine of Plt Off Cant’s Whitley and blew its cowling clean off, forcing him to drop his bombs in one stick from 12,000ft over Emden and head for home on just one engine. Having been airborne for over 6 and a half hours, he arrived over the North Sea to find Middleton St George all but closed on account of the murky weather. With little option but to continue and make a direct approach, Cant ploughed on through the cloud, searching for the airfield. In fact he found it at the first attempt and set about landing straightaway, unaware that his aircraft’s port tyre had been ripped to shreds by the flak and that the undercarriage itself was damaged. The weakened undercarriage collapsed on landing and the aircraft skidded to a halt on its belly. By great good fortune no one was seriously injured. Only one other aircraft landed at Middleton that night, with the remainder being diverted to Driffield, further south in the East Riding of Yorkshire.


For another aircraft operating from Middleton that night the danger began almost immediately after take-off. Sqn Ldr Tom Sawyer, an experienced campaigner, was still settling into his seat and happily flying on the course given to him by his navigator when, to his amazement and great consternation, he noticed what looked like a barrage balloon several hundred feet above him. A quick glance around him confirmed his worst fears. There were balloons bobbing gracefully on all sides. The next minute or so was spent carefully threading his way through the cables and balloons as they loomed out of the darkness before his straining eyes. The next few minutes after that were spent tearing a great strip off the navigator who had given him a course straight through the heart of Middlesbrough’s air defences. Sawyer noted later: ‘The rest of the trip was a piece of cake by comparison.’


On the 23rd eleven aircraft of 78 Squadron headed off into the darkening skies towards Cologne, while five Halifaxes from 76 Squadron turned further north and made for Kiel once again. Of these, Halifax L9492 piloted by Plt Off W.K. Stobbs became the first lost to enemy action when it was shot down by Oberleutnant R. Eckhardt in an Me110 of II/NJG1 near Eilendorf, 20km south-west of Hamburg, killing all the crew except Sgt J.S. Lipton, who spent the rest of the war as a prisoner. A loss such as this would have been keenly felt by the squadron and by the Inspector-General of the RAF, ACM Sir Edgar Ludlow-Hewitt, a former Commander in Chief of Bomber Command, who visited Middleton on the following afternoon, touring the sergeants’ and airmen’s messes, stores and workshops. He spent some time examining a Halifax and speaking to both aircrew and ground staff about this relatively new aircraft, before attending the briefing for the night’s raid. A well respected airman, Ludlow-Hewitt left behind the impression that he knew what he was on about and was genuinely interested in what people had to say to him. Indeed, he served in the post with distinction.


The final raid of a busy but not wholly productive month took place on 29 June when four aircraft of 76 Squadron were detailed to attack Hamburg, though only one arrived and contributed to the raid, which caused considerable damage and destroyed a large food warehouse. Meanwhile twelve old Whitleys from 78 Squadron headed towards Bremen. Eight found their way to the port and, as the squadron record noted, ‘in improved visibility the target was identified with more certitude than usual’. Having bombed the target, all eight headed for home but were diverted to Linton on account of fog at Middleton. One aircraft, that of Sgt R.S. Green, was tracked at about 65–100 miles due east of Alnmouth in Northumberland but failed to make it to the coast, consigning the crew to an unknown and watery grave in the North Sea.


July’s campaign began on the second night of the month with an attack on the oft-visited city of Cologne. Having bombed virtually blind through the thick ground haze that blanketed the target like a protective umbrella, the thirteen aircraft of 78 Squadron turned for home. One aircraft, that piloted by Sgt A. Jepson, fell to the guns of Leutnant Reinhold  Knacke of II/NJG1 and crashed at Ilteren in Holland shortly after 01:00, killing the whole crew. For another crew, captained by Sqn Ldr Williams, it was to prove a nerve-jangling return leg. Shortly after releasing its load on to the fires of Cologne, Whitley Z6655’s rear turret went U/S, thereby leaving the aircraft vulnerable to attack from the prowling night-fighters known to be in the area. A few minutes later the starboard engine gave a splutter and a shudder and lapsed into silence. After some six minutes of frantic efforts in the cockpit, the engine restarted hesitatingly but it remained rough and juddered all the way across the sea. Williams did not fancy his chances of reaching Middleton and opted for Bircham Newton in Norfolk. Unsure of what other damage the Whitley might have sustained, Williams ordered his crew to bale out over the airfield before bringing in his aircraft for what turned out to be a smooth landing – a welcome end for what he described with an understatement characteristic of the day as ‘an anxious trip’. It was clearly a night for drama as Sgt Dunlop, flying one of 76 Squadron’s aircraft, fell seriously ill at the controls. The observer, Plt Off Jones, took command of the aircraft and made the brave decision to press on with the sortie and complete what the crew had set out to do. This success was topped by his pulling off a safe landing upon return to a Middleton shrouded in fog and mist several hours later.
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The crew of Armstrong Whitworth Whitley Z6743 of 78 Squadron awaiting take-off in July 1941. (Imperial War Museum TR 105)


By now several crews had either completed or were nearing completion of their tour of operations. New crews and crew members were arriving at the busy station on a regular basis. One of these men was Sgt Jack Moorfoot, who joined 78 Squadron at the beginning of July 1941. The only one from his OTU course in Abingdon to be posted to Middleton St George, Jack, like so many men and women, approached his first operational posting with a mixture of excitement and trepidation. Fortunately, the night he arrived there was a large and boisterous party in the mess and Jack was quickly made to feel welcome. He later noted, ‘I cannot recall a great deal more about the evening but I enjoyed it and slept very well after it!’


The next morning, 5 July, Moorfoot managed to stir himself, ate a hearty breakfast and set off to explore his new surroundings, fully expecting to have a few days to settle in before going on ops. Much to his surprise and delight, he found his name chalked up on one of the boards at the flights. He was to fly as second pilot to Sgt Jones, an Australian serving in the RAF, on operations that very night. No sooner had he been introduced to his captain and crew than he was airborne on a familiarisation and test flight. On a lovely summer’s day Jack enjoyed a delightful ‘Cook’s Tour’ of the beautiful northernmost counties of England, flying down the Vale of York, across the rugged Pennines and up over the Lake District before crossing the Pennines once more, cruising over Weardale and Teesdale and ending up circling the magnificent castle and cathedral in Durham, less than 20 miles north of Middleton.


With his aircraft, Whitley V6491, pronounced serviceable, the crew left the ground staff to make any final adjustments and preparations and headed for the briefing room at 14:00 hours. Armed guards were posted outside the room as the Station Commander, Squadron Commander, Squadron Navigator, Gunnery Officer, Meteorological Officer and Intelligence Officer all took their turn to brief the crews for their forthcoming raid on Münster. When the formal part of the briefing was over, the men of each crew huddled together to plan their individual route. Unsure of what was to come next, Moorfoot filled in his remaining time alternately lounging and pacing around. He found he had considerably more difficulty in forcing down his flying supper of eggs, bacon and baked beans than he had had in devouring his breakfast earlier that day.


Eventually the take-off time of 22:00 hours approached and the time came to don flying gear, draw a parachute and, in the gathering dusk, waddle towards the flight wagon and haul oneself into the back. It was only a short ride to Moorfoot’s aircraft for the night. Various visual and mechanical checks were made both inside and outside the aircraft before, with all the crew in place, Sgt Jones sought permission to taxi for take-off. When the green light was given by the controller, the brakes were put hard on and the engines run up to full power in order to get the maximum length out of the runway for the heavily laden bomber. Climbing slowly into the darkening sky, Jones turned the Whitley south-east, crossing the coast at Flamborough Head. Cruising at 12,000ft and about 130mph, the aircraft flew serenely across the North Sea, the water shining brightly in the moonlight. As they crossed the Dutch coast Jack noticed some searchlight activity and some extensive anti-aircraft fire over to his right. An hour or so later the navigator announced that the target was coming up and Jack made his way to the nose of the aircraft to the bomb aimer’s position. Jones put the aircraft into a shallow glide before dropping the incendiaries and then gave the Whitley some throttle as he turned to make a second run over the target. Putting the aircraft into a glide once more, Jack dropped the high explosive bombs smack into the sizeable fires blazing below. It was only when his job was over that Moorfoot, on his first operation, noticed the heavy flak bursting all over the sky. The return journey proved uneventful and Jack Moorfoot completed his initial sortie at 04:30 hours as he landed the aircraft at Middleton St George.


For Sgt Malet-Warden, however, the night’s work was not so straightforward. He took off at 22:38 and successfully attacked the target from 11,000ft, calculating that his load had fallen about a mile and a half from the aiming point. Almost immediately his Whitley was coned by searchlights and was attacked by a night-fighter, which hit and holed the port wing with its opening burst. Return fire from the rear gunner forced the night-fighter to break off temporarily. Having repositioned himself, the German pilot made another pass a few minutes later, although this time his shots missed the weaving bomber. The rear gunner helped him on his way with another long burst but no hits were noted. With fuel slowly seeping out of the port wing tank, it would be touch and go whether the aircraft would reach Britain. It was a nerve-wracking return flight for Malet-Warden, alternately scanning the sky for another attack and keeping a close watch on the fuel gauges. An overwhelming feeling of relief washed over the crew as the Whitley came in to land at Middleton at 05:14, after a gruelling 6 and a half hours in the air.


The excellent visibility that night allowed the Intelligence Officers at 4 Group to conclude that ‘the whole town appeared a mass of flames, the fiercest conflagration appearing to be in the south-west portion of the town’. One particular explosion was seen to have thrown smoke and debris up to 3,000ft in the air. When conditions allowed, Bomber Command could really do the business.


GERMANY AGAIN: ATTACKS ON MORALE AND THE INLAND TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM


Sadly, 8 July was to prove an unusually eventful and costly one for the squadrons based at Middleton St George. Contributing six aircraft, 76 Squadron provided almost half of the strike force against the IG Farben Leuna synthetic oil plant at Merseburg. Flying through 10/10ths cloud over the North Sea, the thirteen Halifaxes and a single Stirling found a thick and almost impenetrable industrial smog shrouding the area containing the works. Nevertheless, the Intelligence report surmised: ‘The majority of aircraft appear to have located the target and two sticks of bombs were seen to have burst in the north and southwest corners of the target, the former causing large showers of white sparks . . . [otherwise] no spectacular results were noted.’ Some of the crews had more on their minds than careful observation. The Halifax of Sqn Ldr Bob Bickford was coned by searchlights over the target and treated to some rough treatment from a sustained barrage of heavy and accurate antiaircraft fire, which ripped several chunks out of the aircraft. Hurling the Halifax about the sky, Bickford succeeded in losing the searchlights but almost immediately came under attack from a hitherto unseen night-fighter. Cannon shells smashed through the delicate nose area, wounding both Sgt Kenworthy, the flight engineer, and Bickford himself. Once again the battered Halifax was thrown around the sky in a successful attempt to shake off the attacker. Upon his return to England, Bickford thankfully put the Halifax down at Linton and both he and Kenworthy were rushed away to receive treatment for their wounds.


For 78 Squadron the night’s target was the large and important marshalling yards at Hamm and it proved to be a costly and heartbreaking attack for many of the young airmen involved. The heavily laden Whitleys rolled down the runway at Middleton a little after 23:00 hours and, passing over Filey on the North Yorkshire coast, set course for Hamm. The journey out passed uneventfully for Jack Moorfoot, flying once again as second dickey to Sgt Jones. For once the target was clearly visible from 12,000ft and the moderate levels of flak posed no great problems for the Whitley. As they turned for home, Moorfoot took over the controls. As he crossed the North Sea, steadily losing height as he did so, he flew into increasingly dense and volatile cloud. Trying to slip out beneath the murk, he lost more height but only ran into fog. To his horror, out of the gloom and darkness there loomed up an enormous barrage balloon and then another and another. Mindful of the need to avoid a stall, Moorfoot banked the aircraft as hard as he dared and climbed a little to avoid these deadly obstacles. On a sharp count of three Jones took over the controls and dispatched his still-trembling colleague to the nose to see if he could make out anything below. The crew did not know whether the barrage belonged to Hull, Teesside, Tyneside or Wearside but they all knew and understood the dangers posed by the high ground of the Wolds, Pennines, Moors and Cleveland Hills, the graveyards of numerous aircraft lost in conditions similar to these. Still flying through the airborne equivalent of cotton wool, Jones had little choice but to gradually lose height in the hope of coming out into clearer conditions. Each member of the crew was systematically scanning the cloud, straining their eyes to pick out any recognisable feature beneath them, when the engines gave a cough and stopped. Jones announced that the Whitley had run out of fuel and ordered the crew to take up crash positions as quickly as possible. Moorfoot, in the exposed nose of the aircraft, needed no second bidding but he had only got as far as the steps by the cockpit when there was a huge thump and the ear-splitting shriek of tearing metal as the nose section crumpled and disintegrated on impact. The aircraft seemed to tear its way along the earth for some time before it came to a halt and an eerie stillness fell. This brief period of calm was shattered as the crew members began shouting to one another and hurried to extricate themselves from the tangled wreckage. As the crew, miraculously suffering from nothing more serious than cuts and bruises, assembled at a respectable distance from the aircraft, it was found that the rear gunner was missing. The men ran back to the aircraft and discovered the gunner slumped unconscious in his turret. They managed to open the turret and heave him out and carried him well away from the crash site. In contrast to the ordeal the men had just suffered, the birds were singing and the sun was coming up, burning away the fog and revealing the picturesque hills above the market town of Thirsk. Jones and his navigator set off on a 6-mile walk to find a telephone and arrange transport back to Middleton.


[image: image]


A Halifax B Mk II of 76 Squadron in the summer of 1941. (Imperial War Museum CH 3396)


Another aircraft of 78 Squadron made a forced-landing the same night. Plt Off Wright’s port engine failed as he returned home over the North Sea. He limped back to RAF Bircham Newton in Norfolk, where at 04:05 he made a successful landing – only to overshoot the runway and become entangled with a rather inconveniently placed haystack. All the crew emerged unhurt. That is more than can be said for Whitley Z6555, piloted by Sgt O.W. McLean RAAF, which crashed into the North Sea just before 03:00, killing all on board.


Even after this loss, the cruel fates had not finished with 78 Squadron that night. Sgt W.M. McQuitty and crew took off from Middleton St George at 23:00 and enjoyed an uneventful flight to Hamm. On the bomb run the aircraft was hit by flak, which tore off part of the front turret, allowing the full force of the wind and slipstream to come howling in. The bombing run, in spite of this, was completed successfully. To add to their woes, the Whitley was picked up and held by a searchlight and the aircraft was badly buffeted by the bursts of flak that followed. The starboard engine was hit and burst into flames, blazing for several minutes before fizzling out. Having succeeded in escaping the dazzling and probing searchlight, McQuitty set course for home, shrouded in the welcoming embrace of darkness. However, on this occasion, even that offered little protection.


Losing height as it went, the Whitley limped homewards painfully slowly. As it crossed the Dutch coast near Texel at 03:00 it was attacked by an Me110, which had tracked the stricken bomber for several minutes before unleashing a deadly burst of cannon fire, further damaging the aircraft. Fortunately the German pilot made only one pass and then, helped on his way by prolonged bursts of machine-gun fire from the rear gunner, dived away into the night. McQuitty then asked Sgt J.F. Haffenden, the navigator, for the most direct course to Bircham Newton, one of the stations nearest the coast.


For a while it looked as if the Whitley would stay airborne long enough to reach the coast but the strain on the overworked remaining engine eventually proved too great. To everyone on board’s dismay, if not surprise, it overheated and seized solid. At just 400ft, there was little anyone could do and the Whitley belly-flopped into the sea almost immediately. It plunged under the water with all on board, only to pop up to the surface once more before settling in a slightly nose-down position. With the fuselage filling fast and the cold sea water already chest high, McQuitty and Haffenden made their way to the tail turret where the gunner lay bleeding from a nasty wound to the head. Heaving him out of the confined space of the turret in icy water and pitch darkness was no easy task and matters were made worse when the gunner’s mae west was found to have been holed. Haffenden gave him his own and the three men made their way through the choppy water towards the nose of the slowly sinking bomber, where the second pilot, Plt Off Scott, had managed to deploy the emergency dinghy. It too had been holed by the Me110’s attack but still floated sufficiently to support the weight of one man. The wounded gunner was bundled into the semi-submerged dinghy and the rest of the crew clung on to its sides, supported by their mae wests – except for Haffenden.
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